#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

### **ROBERT SHELDON PETERS**,

Petitioner,

v.

**CASE NO. SC06-341** 

### STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

#### **INITIAL BRIEF**

### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant was the defendant in the trial court and will be referred to herein as either "defendant," "appellant," or by his proper name. References to the record shall be by the volume number in Roman numerals, followed by the appropriate page number, both in parentheses.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Peters relies on the First District's opinion in his case regarding the facts and

procedural history of his case:

In July 2003, the trial court placed appellant on twelve months' community control in lieu of a suspended sentence of twenty-four months in state prison. Condition (6) of appellant's community control stated: "You will not use intoxicants to excess or possess any drugs or narcotics unless prescribed by a physician; nor will you visit places where intoxicants, drugs, or other dangerous substances are unlawfully sold, dispensed or used."

In April 2004, the State charged appellant with having violated his community control by failing drug tests for amphetamines and methamphetamines. At the violation hearing, appellant's community control officer testified that in April 2004 appellant had provided her with a urine sample upon request; she sent the sample for testing to PharmChem, a laboratory used statewide by the Department of Corrections; and the results of the test were positive for amphetamines.

A "Certification and/or Declaration of Authenticity as Business Record pursuant to 90.803(6) Fla. Evid.Code" was presented with PharmChem's lab report of the results of the drug test in lieu of testimony from the custodian of PharmChem's records. Such a certification or declaration is an acceptable means of authenticating a business record under a 2003 legislative amendment to the business records exception to the hearsay rule. *See* ch. 2003-259, § 2, at 1299, Laws of Fla.; *see also* § 90.803(6)(a), Fla. Stat. (2003) (providing for admission of business records upon testimony of the custodian of the records, "or as shown by a certification or declaration that complies with paragraph (c) and s. 90.902(11)").

Defense counsel objected to the trial court's consideration of the written results of PharmChem's analysis on grounds that the admission of the results violated appellant's right to confrontation as set forth in <u>Crawford</u> and because under <u>Monroe v. State</u>, 679 So.2d 50 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996), and <u>Williams v. State</u>, 553 So.2d 365 (Fla. 5th DCA 1989), hearsay evidence cannot form the sole basis for a

finding of a violation of community supervision. No objection was raised concerning any failure by the State to comply with the statute setting forth the requirements for admission of a business record.

Peters v. State, 919 So. 2d 624 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 2006).

The First District affirmed the trial court's order revoking Peter's

community control, holding that the United State's Supreme Court's decision in

Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36 (2004) had no applicability to community

control or probation revocation proceedings:

Appellant argues that the admission of a business record of an independent laboratory at a community control revocation hearing violated his constitutional right to confrontation as set forth in Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36, 124 S.Ct. 1354, 158 L.Ed.2d 177 (2004). We reject that contention because Crawford did not abrogate the rule enunciated by this court in Davis v. State, 562 So.2d 431 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990), that written laboratory reports from independent labs setting forth the results of drug tests are admissible in community supervision revocation proceedings.

Nonetheless, the court, recognizing that Peters had presented a novel issue,

certified, as a question of great public importance:

DOES THE "TESTIMONIAL HEARSAY" RULE SET FORTH IN <u>CRAWFORD V. WASHINGTON</u>, 541 U.S. 36 [124 S.Ct. 1354, 158 L.Ed.2d 177] (2004), APPLY IN COMMUNITY CONTROL AND/OR PROBATION REVOCATION PROCEEDINGS? This Court accepted jurisdiction, and Peters now asks it to reverse the First District's holding and rule that <u>Crawford</u> applies to hearings to determine if a defendant's community control or probation should be revoked.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Peters has several reasons this Court can use to reject the holding and reasoning of the First District's opinion. First, a probation revocation hearing, particularly as they are conducted in Florida, is a "criminal prosecution" as used in the Sixth Amendment. Except for relaxing some of the rules of evidence at those hearings, revocation proceedings have all the markings of a Sixth Amendment adversarial trial.

Second, a prosecution for violating probation is part of sentencing, which itself is part of the criminal prosecution that requires confrontation. In fact, a revocation hearing is nothing more than a "deferred sentencing," as this Court has held.

Additionally, even if a defendant has no Sixth Amendment right to cross examination, he or she has a Fourteenth Amendment due process right to do so, and that right, except in very narrow instances, is as broad as that recognized by the Sixth Amendment.

Finally, the laboratory report used in this case could not be classified as a business record, and thus exempt from the confrontation requirements imposed by the Sixth Amendment. First, the framers of the Constitution would never have recognized it as such. Second, the report was prepared for litigation and because of that was inadmissible.

#### ARGUMENT

#### ISSUE PRESENTED

### THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL ERRED IN HOLDING THAT <u>CRAWFORD V. WASHINGTON</u>, 541 US. 36 (2004) HAS NO APPLICATION TO COMMNUITY CONTROL OR PROBATION REVOCATION PROCEEDINGS.

In this case, the First District Court of Appeal held that the Sixth Amendment's right to confrontation has no application to probation revocation hearings. The crux of its argument focused on whether such a proceeding was a "criminal prosecution" as that term is used in the Sixth Amendment.<sup>1</sup> If it is a criminal prosecution, as Peters argues, the United States Supreme Court's opinion in <u>Crawford</u> applies. If not, the defendant has only the Fourteenth Amendment's right to confrontation, a fact the First District never recognized.

In <u>Crawford</u>, the nation's high court overruled <u>Ohio v. Roberts</u>, 448 U.S. 56 (1980), which had allowed hearsay evidence deemed "reliable" to be admitted at trial as satisfying the Sixth Amendment's confrontation clause. After <u>Crawford</u>, however, hearsay which is considered testimonial can be admitted only if the declarant was unavailable and the defendant had had some opportunity to cross-examine him or her. <u>Crawford</u>, at 124 S. Ct. 1369, 1374.

 $<sup>^{1}</sup>$  "In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right . . . to be confronted with witnesses against him. . . "

To be sure, the [Sixth Amendment] Clause's ultimate goal is to ensure reliability of evidence, but it is a procedural rather than a substantive guarantee. It commands, not that evidence be reliable, but that reliability be assessed in a particular manner: by testing in the crucible of cross-examination. The Clause thus reflects a judgment, not only about the desirability of reliable evidence. . . , but about how reliability can best be determined.

<u>Crawford</u> at 124 S. Ct. 1370.

I. Morrissey v. Brewer and Gagnon v. Scarpelli.

In <u>Peters</u>, the First District relied heavily on decisions from federal appellate courts that have uniformly held that <u>Crawford</u> has no relevance to probation revocation hearings because such are not "criminal prosecutions" as required by the explicit language of the Sixth Amendment. <u>Peters</u>, at 627.<sup>2</sup> The court, in particular quoted extensively from <u>State v. Abd-Rahmaan</u>, 154 Wash. 2d 280, 111 P. 3d 1157 (2005), which in turn, relied on two decisions from the United States Supreme Court, <u>Morrisey v.</u> <u>Brewer</u>, 408 U.S. 471 (1972) and <u>Gagnon v. Scarpelli</u>, 411 U.S. 778 (1973) to support its holding that a defendant has no Sixth Amendment right to confront his accusers in probation revocation hearings.<sup>3</sup> <u>Morrisey</u> and Gagnon, however, are Fourteenth Amendment Due Process cases, and

<sup>2</sup> The Fifth District, also relying on federal decisions, reached a similar result. <u>Russell v. State</u>, 920 so. 2d 683 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA 2006).
<sup>3</sup> The federal and state courts that have considered this issue have similarly relied on Morrissey and Gagnon,

besides that crucial distinction, they present facts so distinct from the situation a probationer in Florida faces that their holdings mislead rather

than direct the analysis the First District engaged in.

In Morrissey the nation's high court rejected the argument that prison

parolees had no due process rights in their continued freedom. Instead, it

held that as a minimum they were entitled to:

(a)written notice of the claimed violations of parole; (b) disclosure to the parolee of evidence against him; (c) opportunity to be heard in person and to present witnesses and documentary evidence; (d) the right to confront and cross-examine adverse witnesses (unless the hearing officer specifically finds good cause for not allowing confrontation); (e) a 'neutral and detached' hearing body such as a traditional parole board, members of which need not be judicial officers or lawyers; and (f) a written statement by the factfinders as to the evidence relied on and reasons for revoking parole. We emphasize there is no thought to equate this second stage of parole revocation to a criminal prosecution in any sense. It is a narrow inquiry; the process should be flexible enough to consider evidence including letters, affidavits, and other material that would not be admissible in an adversary criminal trial.

Id. at 488-489.

In <u>Gagnon</u>, the court extended <u>Morrissey</u> to probation revocation hearings, the sort of proceeding involved in this case. Moreover, it rejected the contention that the probationer needed counsel because it would convert an informal "predictive and discretionary" inquiry into one "more akin to

that of a judge at a trial, and less attuned to the rehabilitative needs of the individual probationer or parolee." <u>Gagnon</u>, at 787-88.

Thus, in both <u>Morrissey</u> and <u>Gagnon</u>, the court recognized that although the defendant had significant due process rights, the proceedings, nevertheless, were informal and "quasi-judicial." <u>Id</u> at 788.

II. The nature of probation revocation hearings in Florida.

Probation revocation hearings in <u>Florida</u>, on the other hand, present an entirely different picture. Instead of the casual, informal and nonadversarial hearing envisioned in those cases, probation revocation hearings in this State are judicial, adversarial inquiries that more closely resemble a Sixth Amendment trial. Those prosecutions differ significantly from the ones held in the federal or other state systems in the following ways:

1. A judge with all the trappings that office carries presides over the

hearing. In <u>Gagnon</u> the official apparently was a panel of hearing officers "familiar with the problems and practice of probation or parole." <u>Id</u>. at 789.

2. While courts in this State have characterized revocation hearings as "informal," <u>Padalla v. State</u>, 895 So. 2d 1251 (Fla.

 $2^{nd}$  DCA 2005), that casualness applies generally only to the hearsay rule. In all other respects, the rules of evidence apply, and such hearings are fundamentally adversarial proceedings in which the judge remains neutral and detached even though it has the right, as it would at a trial, to clear up ambiguities. In either case, trial or revocation hearing, they have no authority to supply essential elements in the state's case. <u>McFadden v.</u> <u>State,</u> 732 So. 2d 1180, 1185 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1999).

3. The State is represented, not by a probation officer with rehabilitation in mind, <u>Gagnon</u>, but by a prosecutor from the State Attorney's office, who is, of course, a lawyer.

4. Likewise, even though <u>Gagnon</u> rejected the need for counsel in every case, this Court has said that defendants facing revocation of their probation, have a right to counsel. <u>State v.</u> <u>Hicks</u>, 478 So. 2d 22, 23 (Fla.1985). ("[U]unless there has been an informed waiver [of the right to counsel, a probationer] is entitled to counsel, and it must be afforded him before he is required to respond in any manner to the revocation charges.")
5. The prosecutor has the burden of proving the probationer violated one or more of the terms of his or her probation

6. The probationer is entitled to discovery to the same extent as if charged with an offense. He or she can also take depositions of witnesses disclosed by the State. <u>Cuciak v. State</u>, 410 So. 2d 916 (1982) ("Fair play and justice require that a defendant in a probation revocation hearing be entitled to reasonable discovery pursuant to <u>Rule 3.220</u>.")

7. At the revocation hearing, both parties can call witnesses who are sworn and subject to a perjury prosecution if they lie.
The hearing affords the defendant an opportunity to be "fully heard," and to challenge the "charges" made against him. Rule 3.790(b), Fla. R. Crim. P.<sup>4</sup>

8. Testimony presented at the hearing typically is recorded.

 The Fourth Amendment's exclusionary rule applies in probation revocation hearings. <u>State v. Scarlet</u>, 800 So. 220 (Fla. 2001).<sup>5</sup> Similarly, confessions given without any or inadequate <u>Miranda</u> warnings are inadmissible at revocation

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Rule 3.790 governs the procedure used in probation and community control revocation proceedings, another indication of the formality and seriousness that Florida gives to such hearings.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> That holding conflicts with those in similar cases from other states and federal appellate courts. <u>Hudson v. State</u>, 887 So. 2d 365 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 2004)(Gross, concurring)

proceedings. <u>Hudson v. State</u>, 887 So. 2d 365 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 2004).

10. A court cannot sentence the defendant until it has found he or she guilty of the allegations. Rule 3.790(b), Fla. R. Crim. P.
11. Defendants have the right to appeal orders revoking or modifying his or her probation. Rule 9.140, Fla. R. App. P.
Thus, probation hearings look more like a Sixth Amendment prosecution than those distinctly more casual proceedings found in <u>Morrissey</u> and <u>Gagnon</u>. As a result, a probation revocation hearing, as it is conducted in Florida, is a criminal prosecution as contemplated by the Sixth Amendment, so the United State Supreme Court's decision in <u>Crawford</u> applies.

III. A probation revocation hearing is a deferred sentencing.

In its opinion, the First District characterized probation revocation proceedings as "post conviction," the implication being that the Sixth Amendment concerns only what happens at a defendant's trial and nothing after a jury has returned its verdict. <u>Peters</u>, at 626. Indeed, the federal courts appear to have so limited the scope of the Sixth Amendment to trials. "Parole revocation proceedings are not criminal trials." <u>Ashe v. Reilly</u>, 431 F3d 826, 829 (DC Cir 2005).

Criminal prosecutions, however, have a broader scope than simply guilt determinations. As used in its legal sense, they include sentencing as well, as the definition found in <u>Black's Law Dictionary</u> (Revised 4<sup>th</sup> edition) p. 448 shows:

Criminal Prosecution: An action or proceeding instituted in a proper court on behalf of the public, for the purpose of securing the convictions <u>and punishment</u> of one accused of crime.

(Emphasis supplied.)

Similarly, the United States Supreme Court, when confronted with

defining the scope of a "prosecution" gave that term a more comprehensive

definition than that used the Peters court. In Bradley v. United States 410

U.S. 605 (1973), it was urged to define:

"prosecution" in its everyday meaning and limit it to simply a proceeding in which guilt is determined. Thus, in ordinary usage, sentencing was not part of the prosecution, but occurs after the prosecution had concluded.

<u>Id</u>. at 608.

While the court acknowledged that that approach had "some force," it rejected it.

Rather than using terms in there everyday sense, "[t]he law uses familiar legal expressions in their familiar legal sense. . . The term "prosecution" clearly imports a beginning and an end.. . . In <u>Berman v. United States</u>, 302 U.S. 211, 82 L.Ed., 204, 58 S. Ct. 164 (1937), this Court said, "Final judgment means sentence. The sentence is the judgment. . . ." In the legal sense, a prosecution terminates only when sentence is imposed.

Id. at 609. (Citations omitted. Emphasis added.)

This more encompassing view of what is a criminal prosecution makes sense because often the most adversarial action occurs at sentencings. In capital cases, for example, no one has ever contended that the prosecution ends with a jury verdict that the defendant has committed a capital murder. Far from it. In many of those trials, the contention and bitter fighting starts when the sentencing phase begins. And even though the rules of evidence may be relaxed, the defendant still must have a "fair opportunity to rebut any hearsay evidence." Section 921.141(1), Florida Statutes (2004).

Therefore, since sentencing is part of the criminal prosecution, the Sixth Amendment applies, and more specifically, a defendant has the right to confront witnesses against him that are presented at those hearings. <u>Rodriquez v. State</u>, 753 So. 2d 29, 43 (Fla. 2000); <u>Way v. State</u>, 760 So. 2d 903, 917 (Fla. 2000); <u>Specht v. Patterson</u>, 386 U.S. 605 (1967): <u>Desue v.</u> <u>State</u>, 908 So. 2d 1116, 1117 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 2005).

This Court, moreover, has held that probation is part of sentencing, and that a revocation hearing is simply a deferred part of that proceeding. Green v. State, 463 So. 2d 1139, 1140 (Fla. 1985):

The purpose of the revocation hearing was to determine whether the terms of petitioner's probation for a prior offense had been violated. As we have stated previously, this process constitutes a deferred sentencing proceeding.

<u>Green</u> arose in terms of a double jeopardy question, but other courts have extended the deferred sentencing holding of that case to include other constitutional rights. <u>Santeufemio v. State</u>, 745 So. 2d 1002 (Fla. 2<sup>nd</sup> DCA 1999)(Because a revocation hearing is a deferred sentencing the defendant has a right to be present.); <u>Tur v. State</u>, 797 So. 2d 4, 6 (Fla. 3<sup>rd</sup> DCA 2001)(Since the court could not impose a jail sentence without appointing counsel, it could not later do so at the "deferred sentencing" for a probation violation.)

Indeed, Section 948.01(2), Florida Statutes (2004) provides a legislative justification for <u>Green</u>'s deferred sentencing holding:

\*

Section 948.01 When court may place defendant on probation or into community control

\*

(2) If it appears to the court upon a hearing of the matter that the defendant is not likely again to engage in a criminal course of conduct and that the ends of justice and the welfare of society do not require that the defendant presently suffer the penalty imposed by law, the court, in its discretion, may either adjudge the defendant to be guilty or stay and withhold the adjudication of guilt; and, <u>in either case, it shall stay and</u> withhold the imposition of sentence upon such defendant and shall place the defendant upon probation.

(Emphasis supplied.)

Thus, because a probation revocation hearing is merely a "deferred sentencing" the Sixth Amendment rights given defendants at sentencing hearings apply, and confrontation is one of those fundamental rights. Hence, Crawford applies to probation revocation hearings.<sup>6</sup>

Yet, they are also more than simply sentencing hearings, which typically have reduced, though not eliminated, standards of admissibility of evidence. Revocation hearings are similar to trials in the crucial sense that the State has a burden it must carry. It can do so, as it did in this case, <u>only</u> by presenting evidence that probationers have violated one or more terms of their probation. Mere allegations are insufficient. Hence, because that evidence may be contested, they have the Sixth Amendment right to confront the witnesses the State has arrayed against them. Allowing the State to carry that load without giving the defendant any ability to challenge

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Peters also argues that because sentencing is a critical stage for which he has a Sixth Amendment right to counsel, <u>Mempa v. Rhay</u>, 389 U.S. 128, 134-35 (1967), that right is meaningless without the right to challenge the State's evidence. Cross-examination is the traditional way that is done.

it is unconstitutional. Indeed, <u>Peters</u> presents the pristine example of why the framers said a defendant must have the right to confront his accusers:

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