#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ROBERT SHELDON PETERS,

Petitioner,

Case No. SC06-341

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

#### RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT R. WHEELER
TALLAHASSEE BUREAU CHIEF,
CRIMINAL APPEALS
FLORIDA BAR NO. 0796409

GISELLE LYLEN RIVERA ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0508012

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL PL-01, THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 (850) 922-6674 (FAX)

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

#

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Respondent, the State of Florida, the Appellee in the District Court of Appeal (DCA) and the prosecuting authority in the trial court, will be referenced in this brief as Respondent, the prosecution, or the State. Petitioner, Robert Sheldon Peters, the Appellant in the DCA and the defendant in the trial court, will be referenced in this brief as Petitioner or proper name.

The record on appeal consists of two volumes, which will be referenced according to the respective number designated in the Index to the Record on Appeal. "IB" will designate Petitioner's Initial Brief. Each symbol will be followed by the appropriate page number in parentheses.

All emphasis through bold lettering is supplied unless the contrary is indicated.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The State accepts petitioner's statement of the case and facts as being generally supported by the record as it is taken virtually verbatim from the First District Court of Appeal decision in Peters v. State, 919 So. 2d 624 (Fla. 1st DCA 2006).

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Petitioner contends that the District Court of Appeal erred in affirming the trial court's order revoking his community control or probation by holding that Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36, 124 S.Ct. 1354, 158 L.Ed.2d 177 (2004) does not apply to admission of a business record of an independent laboratory at a community control revocation hearing. He asserts that the decision below was incorrect because: 1) revocation proceedings are criminal prosecutions for purposes of the Sixth Amendment, revocation proceedings are a part of sentencing which requires the right to confrontation, 3) due process grants him the right to confront witnesses against him, and laboratory report was not a business record. The respectfully disagrees.

Because Petitioner's objection at the trial court level was limited to his claim that admission of the report violated his right of confrontation pursuant to <u>Crawford</u>, only this aspect of the claim is preserved for review.

Petitioner may not prevail on the merits. Because the Sixth Amendment right to confrontation does not apply to probation revocation proceedings, <a href="Mayer-Period-Process">Crawford</a> does not apply. The due process clause grants Petitioner a more limited right of confrontation in probation revocation hearings, but that right requires

application of a much more flexible standard that recognizes that evidence which is ordinarily not admissible at trial, is permissible in such proceedings.

#### ARGUMENT

#### ISSUE I

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REVOKING PEITIONER'S COMMUNITY CONTROL BY HOLDING THAT CRAWFORD V. WASHINGTON, DOES NOT APPLY TO ADMISSION OF A BUSINESS RECORD OF AN INDEPENDENT LABORATORY AT A COMMUNITY CONTROL REVOCATION HEARING? (Restated)

Petitioner contends that the District Court of Appeal erred in affirming the trial court's order revoking his community control or probation by holding that Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36, 124 S.Ct. 1354, 158 L.Ed.2d 177 (2004) does not apply to admission of a business record of an independent laboratory at a community control revocation hearing. He asserts that the decision below was incorrect because: 1) revocation proceedings are criminal prosecutions for purposes of the Sixth Amendment, 2) revocation proceedings are a part of sentencing which requires the right to confrontation, 3) due process grants him the right to confront witnesses against him, and 4) the laboratory report was not a business record. The State respectfully disagrees.

#### Standard of Review

The issue of whether the trial court properly admitted the laboratory report in evidence during Petitioner's violation of community control hearing as not being in violation of <a href="Maintenanger-Crawford">Crawford</a>

v. Washington, infra is a pure question of law reviewed utilizing the de novo standard. Armstrong v. Harris, 773 So. 2d 7, 11 (Fla. 2000).

#### Preservation

At his community control revocation hearing, Petitioner argued only that admission of the lab report violated his right to confrontation pursuant to Crawford. (II, 5-6). As such, only this aspect of the claim, which addresses his Sixth Amendment right of confrontation is preserved. The remainder of his claim was not argued below and is not preserved for review. "For an issue to be preserved for appeal, . . . it 'must be presented to the lower court and the specific legal argument or ground to be argued on appeal must be part of that presentation if it is to be considered preserved. Archer v. State, 613 So. 2d 446, 448 (Fla. 1993) (quoting Tillman v. State, 471 So. 2d 32, 35 (Fla. 1985); see also Steinhorst v. State, 412 So. 2d 332, 338 (Fla. 1982)." Perez v. State, 919 So. 2d 347, 359 (Fla. 2005).

#### Argument

Petitioner contends that the District Court of Appeal erred in affirming the trial court's order revoking his community control or probation by holding that <u>Crawford v. Washington</u>, 541 U.S. 36, 124 S.Ct. 1354, 158 L.Ed.2d 177 (2004) does not apply to admission of a business record of an independent laboratory

at a community control revocation hearing. He asserts that the decision below was incorrect because: 1) revocation proceedings are criminal prosecutions for purposes of the Sixth Amendment, 2) revocation proceedings are a part of sentencing which requires the right to confrontation, 3) due process grants him the right to confront witnesses against him, and 4) the laboratory report was not a business record. The State respectfully disagrees.

# Revocation Proceedings are Not Criminal Prosecutions for Purposes of the Sixth Amendment

The United States Supreme Court, in <a href="Crawford v. Washington">Crawford v. Washington</a>, <a href="Supra">Supra</a>, held that in the trial of a criminal case, an out-of-court testimonial statement is prohibited by the Sixth Amendment Confrontation Clause unless the witness is unavailable and the defendant has, or previously had, the opportunity to cross-examine him. 124 S. Ct. at 1369 n.9. The Confrontation Clause gives an accused the right to be confronted with the witnesses against him in criminal prosecutions. U.S. Constitution, Amendment VI. However, it has long been established that "probation revocation, like parole revocation, is not a stage of a criminal prosecution." <a href="Gagnon v. Scarpelli">Gagnon v. Scarpelli</a>, 411 U.S. 778, 782, 93 S. Ct. 1756, 36 L.Ed.2d 656 (1973); see <a href="Morrissey v. Brewer">Morrissey v. Brewer</a>, 408 U.S. 471, 480, 92 S. Ct. 2593, 33 L. Ed.2d 484 (1972)

("revocation of parole is not part of a criminal prosecution");

<u>United States v. Aspinall</u>, 389 F.3d 332, 342 (2d Cir. 2004),

<u>abrogated on other grounds</u>, <u>United States v. Fleming</u>, 397 F.3d

95, 999 n.5 (2d Cir. 2005), (holding that <u>Crawford</u> does not apply to probation revocation because it, and the Sixth Amendment, apply only to "criminal prosecutions" and "it has long been established that probation revocation, like parole revocation, is not a stage of a criminal prosecution."); <u>United States v. Martin</u>, 382 F.3d 840, 844 n.4 (8<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2004) (holding that the confrontation right in criminal prosecutions does not apply to supervised release revocation proceedings because they are not part of a criminal prosecution).

The overwhelming majority of federal courts which have considered the issue have agreed with this analysis. <u>United States v. Zayas</u>, 146 Fed. Appx. 346, 350 (11<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2005) (<u>Crawford</u> neither altered the requirements under <u>Morrissey</u> or <u>Scarpelli</u>, nor suggested that the principles of the confrontation clause were applicable to revocation of probation proceedings); <u>United States v. Hall</u>, 419 F.3d 980, 986 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir.) ("We, like the two circuits that have also addressed this question, see no basis in <u>Crawford</u> or elsewhere to extent the Sixth Amendment right of confrontation to supervised release proceedings"); United States v. Kirby, 418 F.3d 621, 627-28 (6<sup>th</sup>

Cir. 2005); United States v. Barazza, 318 F. Supp. 2d 1031, 1033-36 (D. Cal. 2004). Similarly, numerous state courts around the country that have had the opportunity to address the question have reached the same conclusion. See for example Minnesota v. Przyborowski, 2004 Minn. App. LEXIS 835 (Ct. App. 2004); People v. Johnson, 121 Cal. App. 4<sup>th</sup> 1409, 18 Cal. Rptr. 3d 230 (Cal. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 2004).

In <u>State v. Abd-Rahmann</u>, 111 P.3d 1157 (Wash. 2005) for example, a case heavily relied upon by First District Court of Appeal, the court rejected Abd-Rahmann's claim that the rule articulated in Crawford should apply to his right to confront witnesses at a sentence modification hearing because the right to confront a witness in a parole revocation hearing under Morrissey incorporates the guarantees of the Sixth Amendment. The Abd-Rahmann Court held:

The confrontation clause of the Sixth Amendment explicitly applies to "criminal prosecutions." The United States Supreme Court and this court have recognized the difference due process requirements existing in parole revocation hearings as opposed to the right to confrontation in criminal prosecutions. For the purposes of confrontation, the former are analyzed under the Fourteenth Amendment, while the latter are analyzed under the Sixth Amendment. By its own terms, the guaranties [sic] of the Sixth Amendment do not apply in these post-conviction settings, but to "criminal prosecutions." Id. At 1160-61.

Those Florida Courts which have considered the claim have reached the same result. See: Russell v. State, 920 So. 2d 683 5<sup>th</sup> DCA 2006) (Rejecting appellant's claim that probation was improperly revoked because the revocation was based solely on otherwise inadmissible hearsay evidence, holding that Crawford does not apply to revocation of supervised release proceedings); Sproule v. State, 2006 Fla. App. LEXIS 4422, 31 Fla. L. Weekly D930 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA March 29, 2006) (Rejecting appellant's claim that admission of his driving record at trial was hearsay and a violation of his Sixth Amendment right to confront and cross-examine under Crawford, holding that Crawford does not alter the law regarding nontestimonial material that qualifies as a firmly rooted exception to the hearsay rule.) The Due Process Right to Confrontation is a Limited One Which

# Does Not Equate to That Extended Under the Sixth Amendment

The rationale applied by these courts recognizes that in Crawford, the Supreme Court addressed the Sixth Amendment right of the accused in criminal prosecutions to confrontation. The text of that amendment specifically provides that it applies in all criminal prosecutions. The Court, in Morrissey observed that "there is no thought to equate . . . {a} parole revocation to a criminal prosecution in any sense. 408 U.S. at 489; Scarpelli ("probation revocation, like parole revocation, is not a stage

of a criminal prosecution..." 411 U.S. at 782. <u>Crawford</u> therefore did not address the due process rights attendant to post-conviction proceedings for violations of conditions of release. See 2A Charles Alan Wright & Arthur R. Miller, Federal Practice and Procedure Criminal § 412 (3d ed. 2000 & Supp. 2005); <u>United States v. Hall</u>, 419 F.3d 980, 986 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2005); <u>United States v. Kirby</u>, 418 F.3d 621, 627-28 (6<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2005).

Second, it is established that at a revocation proceeding, a trial court may consider evidence that would be inadmissible in a criminal prosecution. As noted in Morrissey, the parole revocation process "should be flexible enough to consider evidence including letters, affidavits,, and other materials that would not be admissible in an adversary criminal trial."

Finally, all of the courts, both federal and state, have found that nothing in <u>Crawford</u> suggested that it applied to probation revocation proceedings. <u>United States v. Kirby</u>, 418 F.3d at 628.

# The Sixth Amendment Right to Confrontation Does Not Apply to Sentencing Proceedings

Next appellant contends that a probation revocation proceeding is akin to sentencing proceedings for purposes of his confrontation rights. However, a plethora of cases from the

majority of federal circuit courts have held that the Confrontation Clause does not apply to sentencing procedures.

United States v. Lopez, 898 F.2d 1505, 1512 (11<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1990);

United States v. Beaulieu, 893 F.2d 1177, 1180 (10<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1990);

United States v. Giltner, 889 F.2d 1004, 1007 (11<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1989);

United States v. Agyemang, 876 F. 1264, 1271 (7<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1989);

United States v. Carmona, 873 F.2d 569, 574 (2d Cir. 1989);

United States v. Silverman, 976 F.2d 1502, 1514 (6<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1992);

United States v. Mata, 145 Fed. Appx. 276, 279 (10<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2005)

(Crawford applies to the right to confrontation at trial, not sentencing). Also see Russell v. State, 920 So. 2d at 684 in which the Fifth District Court of Appeal held that Confrontation Clause protections do not extend to revocation or sentencing proceedings; State v. Abd-Rahmann.

Appellant contends that even if the Sixth Amendment does not apply in this case, his due process rights nonetheless entitled him to confront the evidence against him. In Morrissey, however, the United States Supreme Court recognized that although a defendant is entitled not to have his parole revoked without due process, "the full panoply of rights due a defendant in [a criminal prosecution] does not apply to parole revocations." 408 U.S. at 480-82. Later, the Court held that the

same principles applied to revocation of probation proceedings. Scarpelli, 411 U.S. at 782 and n. 3,4.

The minimum due process right afforded in such proceedings includes the right to confront and cross-examine adverse witnesses, unless the hearing officer specifically finds good cause for not allowing confrontation but, those proceedings should not be equated to "a criminal prosecution in any sense," and the "process should be flexible enough to consider evidence including letters, affidavits, and other material that would not be admissible in an adversary criminal trial." Morrissey, 408 U.S. at 489.

In United States v. Bell, 785 F.2d 640 (8th Cir. 1986), the court devised a test to determine whether evidence admitted at a probation revocation hearing violated a defendant's limited right to confront and cross-examine adverse witnesses. comport with the requirements of Morrissey, a court must balance the probationer's right to confront a witness against asserted by the government for grounds not requiring confrontation. In so doing, the court must first consider the explanation offered by the government as to why confrontation was undesirable or impracticable and, second, the reliability of the evidence which is offered in lieu of live testimony. Where the government demonstrates that the burden of providing live

testimony would be inordinate and hearsay evidence of demonstrable reliability, a strong showing of good cause is made. <u>Bell</u>, at 642-43; <u>Martin</u> at 844. See also: <u>Minnesota v.</u> Przyborowski, supra.

Here, the record in question was a report of an independent laboratory. First the State submits that the report was not testimonial as that term was intended under Crawford. While Crawford did not draw an exact definition or define a class of are testimonial in nature, the statements that Court acknowledged that various formulations of what qualifies testimonial has been made. The decision noted that petitioner in that case described such statements as "ex parte in-court testimony or its functional equivalent - - that is, material such as affidavits, custodial examinations, prior testimony that the defendant was unable to cross-examine, or similar pretrial statements that declarants would reasonably expect to be used prosecutorially." 541 U.S. at 51-52; 124 S. Ct. at 1364. It also referred to its prior opinion in White v. Illinois, 502 U.S. 346, 365, 112 S.Ct. 736, 116 L. Ed.2d 848 (1992) in which the Court classified testimonial statements as those which included "extrajudicial statements ... contained in formalized testimonial material such as affidavits, depositions, prior testimony, or confessions." The broadest of definitions,

provided by the National Association of Criminal Defense Lawyers, defined testimonial statements as "statements that were made under circumstances which would lead an objective witness reasonably to believe that the statement would be available for use at a later trial." 541 U.S. at 52; 124 S. Ct. at 1364. All of the examples set forth in <u>Crawford</u> share an 'official' element in that the statements were made to an authority figure in an authoritarian environment. <u>United States v. Savoca</u>, 335 F. Supp. 2d 385, 392-394 (D. N.Y. 2004).

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